The Church at the Ford
The Story of St. Michael’s Church, Shotwick
By
Lavinia Whitfield
[image: image1.png]



St. Michael’s Church, Shotwick
The Village and Ancient Parish of Shotwick.
Throughout the year this little village sees a constant flow of visitors, many of them attracted by its feeling of being somehow apart from the rush and bustle of modern life, a quiet backwater. Yet it was not always so. For many centuries there was constant coming and going, as travellers of all kinds came to cross the Dee by the ford or ferry, and so pass into Wales, or later to take ship to cross to Ireland or further afield. Gradually this traffic ceased as the Dee silted up, and with the diversion of the river in 1725, the village became an isolated farming community, although the ford was still used until 1796. Present day travellers into Wales rush in their cars past the top of the lane which leads to the village, and many do not even notice the sign “Shotwick ½ mile”!
It is not known when people first began to settle at this spot, although it is likely that even in prehistoric times, the ford was part of a route followed by men going into North Wales in search of the flints they were unable to find in Cheshire, and bringing them back to work at places such as Frodsham. Some historians believe that the ‘wick’ refers to the creek which afforded anchorage for small craft, and proves Viking penetration, whilst others argue that the name derives from the small salt workings which were still there when Leland wrote his itinerary, in 1539,  but  have completely disappeared. Yet another explanation for the name is that it is Anglian and means ‘the cattle station on the ridge.’ However this might be, the first recorded mention is in the Domesday Book where 9 taxable families are listed, quite a prosperous little community. Also recorded was the fishery which was to remain an important industry throughout the Middle Ages.
Traders were probably crossing the ford at Shotwick carrying salt from Cheshire into North Wales long before the Normans came, salt having been produced in Britain in Roman times and probably earlier. Certainly by the Middle Ages, a ‘Saltesway’ was well established, being a trading route from the 3 Cheshire ‘wiches’ into Wales. The latter part of this road became known as the King’s way. “The Kynge’s highway near Chester for our lord the Kynge to leide his hoost in the time of warre unto Shotwyk ford”.
So the trading route became a military highway. Henry III passed through Shotwick in 1245 leading a great army across the ford into Wales and again Edward I in 1278 and 1284. Cheshire was important as a major launching point for operations against the Welsh. These became so much a way of life that the experienced men of Cheshire were constantly called upon to strengthen the royal armies on their way into Wales, to Ireland, Scotland or even France. In the Cheshire records are details of the uniform supplied to these archers in the mid 14th century. The material used was woollen, the articles being short coats and hats, and the colours green on the right side of both articles and white on the left. There is positive evidence of their activities at Shotwick, as will be seen later.
The community was well placed to defend itself should the Welsh come raiding, with the narrow creek to the south, the estuary to the west, and the fortified ancient hall, long since gone, to the north. The church, being the only stone building, would make a natural refuge. The royal castle of Shotwick, which Hugh Lupus built during the years following the Norman Conquest and which was surrounded by the royal estate of Shotwick Park, was a little over a mile away along the river bank to the south east with the quay beside it. The castle was maintained as a military stronghold as long as there was a threat from the Welsh, but later was used as an alternative to St. Werburgh’s Abbey, to give hospitality to royalty or other distinguished visitors to the area. When John Leland, Henry VIII’s antiquary passed through Wirral in the mid 16th century he noted “Shottowick Castelle on the very shore” of the Dee, and close by, the salt works. By the time William Webb wrote ‘King’s Vale-Royall’ 60 years later, the castle was already in ruins, “the ruins of a fair castle that stands upon the brink of Dee within its park”. All that remains is a mound in a field, now well inland. Some of the stones probably were brought for later repairs at the church or for walls or farm buildings locally.
Shotwick Park, being part of the estates of the earl of Chester, passed to the crown with the earldom in  1237, and in 1312 Edward II created his son, later to become Edward III, Earl of Chester. We find the Black Prince, son of Edward Ill, writing to the Chamberlain of Cheshire on June 26th, 1353, “Make clean and prepare my houses of Shotwick where I intend to stay and have sport in the park”. The Prince used the park not only for hunting but also, in conjunction with his other estates notably Macclesfield, for stock raising, the first known instance of the association of distant manors for this purpose. Cattle raised in Cheshire were driven to London for the households of the King and the Prince, or on occasion to provision armies in Scotland or elsewhere.
Another gentleman who appeared determined to enjoy the facilities of the park was Abbott Richard Oldham. In 1446 the Abbott had to enter into a recognisance of 46 marks to keep the peace towards the park keeper of Shotwick. Not having learned his lesson, in 1449 we again find him indicted for hunting in the royal park at “Church Shotwyk with greyhounds and other dogs” and killing two harts and four hinds. No need to look further for the explanation of the name of the Old Greyhound Inn at Shotwick.
Shotwick Park passed out of royal hands when Sir Thomas Wilbraham bought it from Charles II in
1677.
The fortunes of the village of Shotwick are closely bound up with the river. Its prosperity was dependent on the fishery, the ford and the ferry in the first Instance, but gradually as the Dee silted up and large vessels found it increasingly difficult to navigate as far as Chester and other outports in the estuary, they would discharge their cargoes at Shotwick. For about a hundred years, Shotwick took the place of Chester as the major port. At the end of this period, the Dee having silted up still further, Burton, Neston, Parkgate and Heswall each in turn handled the shipping which formerly went to Chester.
The 17th Century brought great changes to the village. In 1641 the plague raged at Shotwick for more than 4 months, and many dead were buried in the churchyard. During the Civil War there was some skirmishing, and stones from the churchyard walls were used to barricade the church doors. Whether as a result of these two events or as part of the general domestic rebuilding that was going on throughout the country, it was during the 17th Century that most of the houses in the village were rebuilt. The old fortified manor was pulled down, and a new one, which still stands and is now called Shotwick Hall, was built by Joseph Hockenhull in 1662.
Shotwick Hall, together with the church, all the other 17th Century houses and some of the farm buildings which form the village group, is now subject to a preservation order. The Vicarage, now in private hands, is included. It was acquired by the church in 1765, being bought with Queen Anne’s Bounty. The cellars date from the 16th  Century, and are said to have been used by smugglers. The remainder of the house, apart from the South wing which was added later, is 18th Century.
At the time of the Norman Conquest the manor of Shotwick belonged to the secular canons of St. Werburgh, and the Shotwick family were subordinate lords under the Abbots of Chester. During the reign of Edward I the manor came, by marriage, into the possession of the Hockenhulls of Huxley, Duddon and Tarvin. In 1715 the family made Shotwick their home until the mid 18th Cen- tury when the estate was mortgaged and sold. Joseph Hockenhull died in 1679 and is buried in the sanctuary of the church. Mr. Samuel Bennett purchased the estate and bequeathed it in 1763 to John Nevitt of Great Saughall who then assumed the name of Bennett.
A sad story of uncertain date tells of the daughter of one of the Lords of Shotwick who had fallen in love with one of his squires. Her father, wishing her to marry a Welsh Knight, took her on board ship, and when they were near the Point of Air, told her that her lover was dead, whereupon she threw herself into the sea. Her distraught father cried out to her that it was not true and that she might marry her squire, but all attempts at rescue failed. She was finally washed up on to Hilbre Island where, dying, she was found by a monk to whom she told her tale. The spot where she was found is called “Lady’s Shelf” after this incident.
We began the story of Shotwick with a road, the ancient ‘Saltesway’, part of which ran from Shotwick Castle along to the village and on towards Puddington and thence to Neston. In 1671 and 1675 there were complaints that the effects of salt and fresh water beating on the bridge and causeway of Shotwick had caused “the great road leading from Chester to Neston” to become impassable. The bridge still exists, and parts of the old road have been uncovered and can be seen alongside the wall on the north side of the churchyard. It continued past the Vicarage and on past Shotwick Hall. The salt water referred to was the water of the estuary which washed the banks on which Shotwick stands. The fresh water exists now only as the little brook which until the time of the reclamation of the “Sea-land” was a tidal creek.
I was told by an old parishioner many years ago that his parents remembered the sea coming up to the banks and boats riding where there are now green fields.
Throughout the 18th Century the ford was in continual use, the last recorded crossing being in
1796, and a hazardous venture it must have been at this time by all accounts, with the sands shifting so much that new routes had to be followed constantly between heaps of sand and the deep holes. By the end of the 18th Century the approach to Shotwick from Chester was down the present lane, leading from the Chester-Parkgate turnpike road which was opened in 1789. The turnpike Toll-Bar is shown on the 1843 Tithe map between the Yacht Inn and Woodbank Lane but all trace of it has disappeared. Prior to the opening of the turnpike road, a six-horsed coach had run from Woodside, Birkenhead, to Chester and Parkgate three days a week. By the end of the century, what had once been a winding track through the forest of Wirral, then a rough roadway, became at last a main highway that linked the parish of Shotwick with Chester and the Birkenhead ferry.
A later road to Queensferry, built in the 1830’s, was destined to cut the parish in half with Woodbank on one side of the road and the church and village on the other. The old Shotwick parish was later divided into three, the mother parish and the two daughter parishes of Capenhurst, established in the mid 19th Century, and Great Saughall, which came into being at the end of the 19th Century.
It might be appropriate at this point to mention the horned lady of Shotwick which is how Mary Davies, born in 1596 in what is now Great Saughall, is described in a pamphlet in the British Museum. We are told that in her twenties this lady had two wens on her head which developed into horns. These she later shed, whereupon another pair grew. She seems to have left Cheshire to cash in on her misfortune by exhibiting herself at the Swan Inn, Charing Cross in London, and there is no record of her having returned.
The Church
The origins of the church itself are as obscure as those of the village. The Saxon church, which was most likely a wooden structure, would have either perished, or disappeared in the general rebuilding of churches that followed the Conquest. What is certain is that when the Domesday Book was compiled, a church existed at “Soto-wiche”, belonging to the secular canons of St. Werburgh. This church had probably been established about 100 years before.
The Norman Church, which supplanted the Saxon one about the beginning of the 12th Century, consisted simply of a nave and chancel without aisles. The Norman arch of the South doorway is part of this first building, and is the oldest part of the present church, the chancel doorway being a little later, probably Transitional.
The secular canons of St. Werburgh had by this time been succeeded by Benedictine monks, Shotwick having been confirmed to them by the foundation charter of St. Werburgh’s in 1093. At the same time as the Norman  church was being built, rebuilding of the Abbey, now Chester cathedral, was also taking place and it was probably monks from the abbey who were the master masons at Shotwick. Communication must have been difficult at times, with the craftsmen and labourers engaged on the work speaking Celtic, Saxon and Norman, for another 300 years were to pass before the Saxon and Norman tongues were sufficiently welded to produce the English used by Chaucer to write ‘Canterbury Tales’.
The stone used was from the local quarry. The walls were built by using outer casings of dressed stone filled in with rubble. On reaching a height convenient from the ground, a square hole called a ‘put log’ would be left at intervals in the masonry to allow a baulk of timber to be pushed in, leaving a few feet projecting so that planks of wood could be placed along as a form of scaffolding to enable the masons to continue their work. When the walls had risen another 5 feet or so, the process would be repeated and the lower holes filled in. The roofs of most Norman churches were of wood covered with thatch or tiles, and we can assume that ours was the same. If windows were added these were primitive and narrow and placed high in the wall, maybe covered by a wooden shutter, although sometimes bleached fabric or horn was used.
14th  Century
During the 14th Century the church was rebuilt and extended by the addition of a north aisle throughout its length, and by elongation of the chancel. This pattern of development was common at this period, partly to  accommodate the increased ceremonial in the services, but mostly because in the later Middle Ages there was a deep devotion to Mary the Mother of Christ, and if a church was not dedicated to her, it usually had to have a lady chapel added to it. In Shotwick’s case it would appear that the line of octagonal piers was built before the wall of the earlier church was knocked down as the arcade is not quite in line with the chancel wall. In this way the church could be in continuous use as the work progressed. The master masons employed are reputed to have been part of an army of craftsmen involved in the building of the Abbey of Vale Royal. So many men were concerned in building the Abbey, and the work took so long, that from time to time some were redundant and these were employed in the rebuilding or restoration of several churches in the county.
One only has to look at the many churches in North Wales known as “Vale of Clwyd” type or, in Welsh “Ddwbl Eglwys”, to see where the inspiration for the extension came from. Nowhere else in Cheshire can one find another “double-aisled” church.
Both East windows were part of the 14th Century work, and fragments of the 14th Century glass, some of the oldest in Cheshire, can be seen in the tracery. That in the North aisle is particularly interesting as it was only ‘rediscovered’ comparatively recently. It had been lost to view behind two sheets of plain glass added as protection  during the 19th Century, and dust and dirt had so obscured it from view, that historians had dismissed it as “fragments of old glass”. The windows having been examined in 1947 and found to be in urgent need of repair, the glass was removed and carefully restored at York, and revealed as an Annunciation group and the only 14th Century windows of this nature remaining in Cheshire. Apart from the heads which are missing from both figures, they are otherwise complete, being those of the Angel Gabriel and the Virgin Mary.
The stained glass windows, the paintings covering the plastered walls and the carved images in the niches, together with the rood screen stretching across both aisles were “visual aids” for the illiterate parishioners of the period. As services were in Latin, few understood them word for word, although from the priest’s teaching, they knew what was going on and when to stand and when to kneel. It was only in the late 14th Century that seating was introduced. Dark as the church must have been in the winter months, no artificial lighting was provided, apart from lamps and candles used for ceremonial purposes.
Apart from its primary role of worship, what other functions did it perform, this solid stone building which dominated the village and was so different from the humble timber framed wattle and daub dwellings which surrounded it? It was in every sense a community centre which served as school, meeting place and place of entertainment. It belonged in part to the parishioners who had to keep the nave in repair and also some of the vestments. At this time the only consecrated part of the building was the sanctuary, which the vicar was responsible for. By the 15th Century most churches had churchwardens whose duty it was to raise money for repairs and replacements.  They collected money as people left the church, or went round the parish collecting from house to house, if something expensive was to be done. People sometimes left their best clothes to the church and the wardens had them cut up into altar curtains, frontals or vestments.
Festivals were celebrated in the church by feasting and dancing, and either the church itself or the churchyard was the scene of an early form of fund raising, “Church Ales”. This was organised by the Wardens and in some instances the people gave the ingredients for brewing and then came and drank the ale and paid for it. It was brewed in many parishes in a small building near the church, the church house, which was also used for storage. Sometimes the Wardens seem to have ordered the ale to be distributed on feast days. The custom died out in the 16th Century but it is probably the reason why there is so often an old inn found in close proximity to the parish church. At Shotwick the old Greyhound Inn, now a private house, was only a short distance away across the village street.
The church porch was often used as a schoolroom, and until the 16th Century it was the place where marriages were solemnised. Here also the preliminaries of baptism were performed before moving to the font for the second part of the service. Our church porch bears witness to another activity carried on near the church. By a decree of Edward Ill, after Mass the rest of Sunday had to be devoted to the sport of archery, all other sport being prohibited in its interest. The grooves worn in the stones in the porch were made by archers sharpening their arrows before practice at the butts. No wonder these deadly English archers won Agincourt, Crecy and Poitiers against armoured troops, as the English 6ft bow when drawn fully to the right ear could drive an arrow through an oak door 4 inches thick. The fields to the west of the church were still called “The Butts” on the 1843 tithe map.
15th Century.
The Black Death, the plague that swept the country in 1348/9 and reduced the population by at least one third, put a stop to church building, and there was an interval of twenty-five years before it was resumed. In Shotwick’s case, it was only in the late 15th Century that more major alterations and additions were made to the fabric of the church. The chancel arch was removed and the chancel north wall pierced by two arches making two aisles of nearly equal size, side by side and with no division between nave and chancel. The windows in the north aisle were added, and in order to accommodate them the wall had to be built up. It would seem that at this time also the double span roof was replaced by the single span described by an early 19th Century visitor:
“The roof is open to the apex; very rude but strongly constructed of oak; the timbers rest upon large brackets lying across the wall formed by the arches, which occupy nearly the middle of the church, and the ends of the brackets being ornamented with grotesque heads and leafage scrolls”.
The tower was built during the same period, being one of a group within a 10 mile radius of Chester. The others were at Backford, Handley and Tattenhall. The four towers have much in common, each having three stages, diagonal buttresses and battlemented parapets. On the south side, beneath the belfry window separated by almost the entire tower are two sets of initials, RC or RG and MD. Some historians believe the MD refers to the date when the tower was completed, but others believe they are the initials of the Churchwardens. I feel that the M.D. almost certainly stands for the date of completion, 1500, and that the letters R.G. stand for the Latin “Resurgam” meaning “I shall rise again” referring either to the much weathered letters on the North side “IHS”, that is, Jesus, or to the name on the other inscription. This is immediately under the highest string course, beneath the battlements and a little to the left of the belfry window. The letters are also much weathered but the first name seems to be Thomas and the suggestion has been made that it was the name of the incumbent of the time.
Although much has been made of the role of church towers as look out posts, fortresses and beacons, it seems to me that in Shotwick’s case this was not the primary object, effective though this tower would have been if called upon to play any of these roles. At this time relations with Wales were peaceful and had been so for two hundred years. Henry VII was on the throne, peace and stable government reigned. Unless, as has been suggested, this tower replaced an earlier one, and there is no evidence to support this, it would seem to have been added in the general wave of tower building which occurred throughout the country at this time,  primarily to accommodate bells. It is recorded that in 1549 Shotwick had three bells. The tower did not look at that time as fortress like as it does at present as it was topped by eight decorative pinnacles which were probably destroyed during the religious spoliation of the mid 16th Century or during the Commonwealth.
When the building of the tower was completed the west wall of the north aisle was opened up to reveal a lofty arch through which light could stream from the Perpendicular window in the west wall of the tower. There are some fragments of ancient glass in the tracery of the window. The door in the west wall was to allow the passage of processions through the church. The small door in the corner leads by way of a spiral staircase to the bell chamber. The master mason’s marks have fortunately not been obliterated in later years and can, clearly be seen all over the tower walls.
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The Norman Arch
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The Main Aisle
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The Church Wardens Pew 1673
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The Side Aisle
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The Three Decker Pulpit
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The Shotwick Effigy
16th  Century
The religious upheavals of the 16th Century brought about a great change in the internal appearance of parish churches throughout the land. All “superstitious” objects were ripped out and either sold or broken up. Had we come into Shotwick church around 1600, what would it have looked like? The walls are now plain  whitewashed,  perhaps adorned here and there with a sentence from the Scriptures. The statues have gone from their niches and the stained glass has been replaced by plain, apart from some small areas too high up for Puritan hooligans to have bothered about. The new windows in the south wall added some time during the latter half of the
16th Century are plainly mullioned and functional. The Great Rood has disappeared from above the chancel screen and the stone altar has been replaced by a solid wooden table, free standing and with no ornament or covering, which now stands in front of the screen at the end of the nave. When Holy Communion is celebrated, once a month or less, the “Lord’s Table” is removed to the chancel and placed against the east wall or a few paces out from it. The communicants enter the chancel at the offertory sentence or Invitation prayer and remain there for the rest of the service which, like all the other services, is now in English.
It was quite common at this period for wrongdoers to have to stand up during the services and confess to their sins. As witness to this is the account, in 1588, of a man and woman who were ordered “to do open penance in the parish church of Shotwick in shirte and sheete with white wandes in their handes. from the beginninge of the letanie to the end of a sermon or homily on fornication”, for two Sundays and a feast day. They had to make  their confession to the congregation and the curate was required to send a certificate to the Bishop that the penance had been performed as directed.
Another incident concerns Margaret Dannett who, in 1605, was forced to do penance in Shotwick church, for being “a common scold and disturber of her neighbours”.
17th  Century
The 17th Century is noteworthy in the history of the church on several counts. In 1624, a young man of 25, the  Rev. Samuel Clarke, became its minister and his years at Shotwick were a resounding success. His preaching brought people from miles around flocking to hear him. As a student of Emmanuel College Cambridge he had come under the influence of the Puritans and was later to write many valuable theological books. After five years  he was presented in the Chancellor’s Court for the omission of church ceremonies and was forced to leave the parish. He died at lsleworth in 1682, universally respected for his piety. It is interesting to note that he wrote of his parishioners at Shotwick that “I was never acquainted with more understanding Christians in all my life”.
When William Laud became Archbishop of Canterbury in 1633, he directed that altars be restored to their rightful place against the East wall of the chancel. In addition he introduced communion rails in front of the Sanctuary, so  that communicants could come up to the altar, receive the Sacrament in relays and then return to their seats. This solved the problem of crowding in the chancel and also emphasised the separateness and sanctity of the altar. Shotwick’s communion rails date from this period and throw light on church-going habits, as the rails are set close enough together to prevent dogs from entering the Sanctuary. Some churches still have the old “dog tongs” used for removing dogs from the church. Unfortunately there are none at Shotwick but a pair can be seen at the lovely church of Clynnog Fawr in North Wales.
Another interesting item of church furniture also dates from this century. The Churchwardens’ pew which some young visitors have called “The Punch and Judy show”, has the date 1673 carved on the lower part, together with the Wardens’ names, The canopy dated 1709 is thought to have been added at that date. It is a piece of furniture befitting the dignity of the office and reminds all and sundry of the Churchwardens’ job of keeping order and putting out unruly folk. At some time it must have been furnished with curtains and a mat, as these are charged for in the accounts.
As has already been mentioned, the parishioners were responsible for the upkeep of the nave of the church. However, the Dean and chapter of the Cathedral, being in the position of rector, took the great tithes and were responsible for the upkeep of the chancel. They appear to have been very neglectful of their duties throughout the 17th Century as they were constantly presented for not repairing the chancel, and by 1670 the chancel was said to be “in great decay”. Those repairs which were undertaken seem to have been minimal, judging from the item:
1670 Paid the slater for mending Shotwick Chancell, 6s. 6d.
Mention has already been made of the fighting at Shotwick during the Civil Wars when stones from the churchyard walls were used to barricade the doors. I wonder if the “spy holes” in the South door date from this time. The church plate and several other items were lost or stolen during the wars. The chalice and pewter flagon bought as replacements in 1685 are still in use. The chalice, which is silver and is by Peter Pemberton is interesting in that the Chester assay mark consists of a single garb instead of the usual group of three. Both the chalice and the pewter flagon are inscribed with the names of the Churchwardens, John Hale and William Briscoe.
Other replacements during the same century were the bells. These are inscribed: WG 1616 + Jesus be our speed
+ Gloria in Excelsis Deo 1621
W
1664 Gloria in Excelsis Deo CW WD lB IS More about the bells later.
Towards the end of the 17th Century another of Shotwick’s ministers achieved some notoriety. It would seem that the Parish was the setting for many a romantic episode as the curate, a certain Mr. Heath, would perform “irregular marriages” in “an alehouse at Shotwick” for 7 shillings a time.
18th Century.
Some mystery surrounds the origins of the box pews. It has been said that they came from a church in Chester in 1812. At that date many churches were throwing out their box pews in favour of more up to date seating, and many fine old box pews were burnt. If Shotwick’s were indeed discarded by another church, even had there been no charge for them, there would surely have been some record in the Churchwardens’ accounts of payments for carriage or carpenters work in setting them up. The accounts for the 1812 show no such items, nor do they at any other time. On the other hand, we know that in a Bishop’s Commission dated 1706, the parishioners were bidden to replace the “irregular and un-uniform seats”. Unfortunately no accounts exist for this year, but evidently when the new seats were put in the church they must have been box pews as the accounts during the later part of the 18th Century mention repairs to the pews and new hinges for the pew doors. It is therefore very probable that the pews in the church at this moment are those installed in or around 1706. This view is confirmed by the inscription cut into the inside of one of the pew doors, “John Basnitt, December 4th, 1710”.
John Basnitt was one of the Churchwardens named in the Bishop’s Commission. When he was a warden John would have been used to sitting in state in the only “proper” seat in the church. Did he, I wonder, regret the fact that his name was not recorded on either the Churchwardens’ pew itself or on the smart new canopy which was added in 1709 so as to distinguish it from the seats for ordinary members of the congregation?
I have already referred several times to the Churchwardens’ Accounts. These begin in 1717 and continue to 1835. They were purchased at the sale of Joseph Mayer of Bebington in 1837 by a Mr. Trelawny who restored them to the church. They were in a very bad state, rotted with damp and frayed at the edges. The originals are kept at Chester castle along with the parish registers which begin in 1698, but the church has a copy, beautifully and painstakingly written by Agnes L. Dyke in
1932.
The accounts are interesting for the light they shed on the everyday life and history of the times and for the picture they paint of the church’s involvement in every aspect of life. From 1601 the church vestries had been responsible for the administration of the Poor Law, and continued to be so until the early 19th Century. Throughout the accounts there are entries referring to sums of money given to deserving cases. Only with the consent of the Crown was a church allowed to collect money other than for parish purposes, and where royal letters patent were issued authorising collections for charitable purposes, these “requests” or “briefs” had to be entered into the parish register. Some of the most interesting ones in the Shotwick accounts are:
1722
to 3 poor Sealors with a Pass
1724
to an outlandish Dub man taken by ye Spaniards and having a paper.
Travel to get homewards.
1725
to two poor passengers staying for a passage to Ireland 1s.
Given to a distressed sailor. Given to a poor passenger.
1733
To 2 poor persons come out of slavery.
To a souldier with a Discharge and an order for relief.
The many references to strangers, sailors and other travellers shows that Shotwick was still a busy place during the early years of the 18th Century.
Some entries show a Christian charity over and above the giving of alms:
1741
For going with a woman to Brumbrow and into Wales, and our expenses.
Whilst others mark historical events:
1725
To a decayed Gentleman with a testimonial of his loss by ye South Sea, 1s.
1726
Paid to ye Ringers on ye Crownation Day.
1741
Paid to ye Ringers for the good news of Admiral Vernon.
1759
The Ringers when Admiral Boskenon took the French fleet. There are many entries throughout the years of payments for vermin:
1750
Paid to Thomas Hesketh for a bich fox, 2s 6d
1794
To Widow Speed for sparrows, 3s Od
From several entries when it was re-gilded or mended we learn that the church tower once boasted a gilt weather cock, and what a story is told by the entry:
1730/1
Paid for shifting ye Clock-hammer after ye Great Bell fell.
19th  Century
When John Owen the historian visited Shotwick in 1850, he reported that the church had not suffered from modern restoration but was suffering from neglect. Neglect of the fabric over long periods had reduced many churches in the country to a state bordering on ruin. Unfortunately, in the restoration mania that swept the land during the 19th Century, thousands of mediaeval churches were “restored” to what may or may not have been the original masons’ conception. The copy was substituted for the original and untold damage was done in many cases by the substitution of new doorways, windows, capitals and other architectural features in place of what had been. How fortunate we are that, whether due to lack of funds or to being by this time a village church in a somewhat isolated community, Shotwick escaped the worst of these attentions. Alone throughout Wirral it remains the only truly mediaeval church.
During the restoration which took place in 1871 the walls were raised by two courses of stone and a double span  arch braced roof was built replacing the old single span roof. It was not until
1905-6 that the plaster was stripped from the walls. Running in a band across the North door can be seen the pattern which continued around the church on the plaster.
20th  Century
In 1970 it was discovered that, largely due to the inadequate heating, the church roof was suffering from dry and wet rot. The prospect of having to raise £14,000 to restore it and prevent further deterioration of the stone work was a daunting one for such a small parish, but it was decided to go ahead. An appeal was launched by the Lord Bishop of Chester in January 1971. By means of a great deal of hard work and generosity of friends and organisations outside the parish, sufficient money was raised to restore the roof and install efficient central heating. Although costs rose and the original target had to be increased to £15,000, sufficient funds were eventually raised for the restoration of the stonework. An ancient church such as this is in constant need of care and repair and St Michael’s is fortunate in having many good friends  and devoted parishioners who believe it important to pass it in to future generations in as fair a state as possible, although it is a constant struggle.
Why have so many people thought it worth while to donate so generously to restore this building, and to give of their time, their talents, and above all their love? I recently came across a passage which was amongst the evidence submitted to a Commission on Churches, and which sums up all that needs to be said.
“An ancient and beautiful church fulfils its primary function merely by existing. It is, in itself, and irrespective of the numbers using it, an act of worship. A beautiful church is a perpetual reminder of spiritual values. In Shakespeare’s phrase, such churches are “sermons in stones”, and their message is delivered not for half an hour on Sundays but every hour of every day of the year and not merely to those who enter but to all who pass by”.
1975 also saw another exciting event in Shotwick’s history. Masons replacing a badly eroded window sill under one of the Tudor windows discovered behind it a mediaeval effigy. Experts say that it is probably that of a man and most likely dates from the early 14th century. It was put into the place where it was found when the windows were being added during the 16th century and had lain there undisturbed for four hundred years. Although badly fragmented, the face and the hands are complete. It is likely that the effigy had been removed during the Reformation and left lying around outside until the 16th century mason found a use for it as in-filling. Whose tomb it had adorned we shall probably never know, although it is possible that it was that of Robert de Hockenhull, husband of the last of the de Shotwicks, Lady Alice. It is also probable that the figure is holding a heart, or heart casket, denoting a heart burial. It was common practice in those days if someone died abroad for their heart to be brought home for burial. The effigy can be seen in a glass case in the North aisle.
A Tour around the Church
The massive South door dates from the 15th Century, as does also the Font. The clock, which replaced an earlier one, was bought in 1726.
The Royal coat of arms on the tower wall was bought in 1727 during the last months of the reign of George I. It may have replaced an earlier one, as coats of arms were placed in churches after the Reformation when they were often put above the chancel arch in the place formerly occupied by the Great Rood.
The bells. The present peal of six bells consists of 4 new bells bequeathed by the Rev. F. R. Wansburgh, and two old ones, dated 1616 and 1621, recast. In 1935 when the new ones were hung, one of the old bells dated 1664 was removed when found to be untunable, and now stands in the tower.
The Commandments. Canons of 1604 ordered that the Commandments be exhibited on the East wall of the chancel. The ones to be seen in the wall by the Churchwardens’ pew were bought in
1752.
The “Devil’s Door”. The door in the North aisle, no longer used, is known to local people as “The Devil’s Door”. The name goes back to the Middle Ages when the ground to the North of the church was unconsecrated and thought to be the haunt of evil spirits. In pre-Christian times, the North was the “holy” place, and this, together with the fact that the church hid the sun from this ground for most of the year meant that superstitions surrounded it. During the Middle Ages only suicides, the illegitimate and criminals were buried there, all other burials, apart from those actually in  the church, taking place to the South. Superstition had it that if the “Devil’s Door” were opened during a baptism the evil spirits would leave the infant’s body and fly out through it.
The 3 decker pulpit. In the same Commission which dealt with un-uniform seating in 1706, the parishioners were bidden to move the pulpit from its position in the South aisle to that in the North aisle where the present pulpit now stands. The old one was replaced in 1812 by this 3 decker Georgian pulpit which is said to have come from a church in Chester, thus giving rise to the story that most of the church furniture also came from the same source. The minister took the service from the middle deck, going to the top one to preach, whilst the clerk occupied the lower deck. It was he who led the congregation in their responses.
In these days, although used at harvest and other special occasions, most clergy tend to prefer to deliver their sermons either from the lectern or the chancel steps. An old parishioner told me an amusing story of a former  verger who warned a visiting minister not to use the top deck. It appeared that it was already occupied - by one of his hens, sitting on a clutch of eggs!
Passing on down the North aisle, notice the remains of the old Rood Screen which now forms part of the pews.
The organ was purchased in Chester, second hand in 1909. Prior to this the harmonium was used.
The reading desk takes us back to earlier forms of church music. It is late 18th Century, and was formerly the fiddlers’ desk. From various entries in the Churchwardens’ accounts we learn that during the 18th Century the church music was supplied by paid musicians, fiddlers and singers.
The vestry. The screen which forms the vestry was formerly at the end of the lady chapel, before the organ was installed. In the vestry is the recess which was the aumbry where the holy oils and Communion plate were stored. Before the Reformation it would have had a stout oak door. The table in the vestry dates from the 17th Century and the chest from the 18th. The three locks on the chest were for the two Churchwardens and the Vicar, each of whom held a key.
The Sanctuary. The panelling behind the altar is part of the box pews removed to make room for the organ.
An interesting local story concerns a grave in the chancel. Tradition has it that there lies Squire Hockenhull who died when his old horse stepped into a rabbit hole, fell and rolled on his master. The dying man is supposed to have charged his eldest son that there should be no inscription on his grave stone, but instead a bridle bit and two stirrups cut in the stone above the date, to show that he died as he had lived, a sportsman. It is now generally believed however that the signs are simply the letters I.C.C., being the initials of John Carter, Curate, whose will dated 1587 stated that he wished to be “Buryied in the chancell of Shotwyke”. There are still parishioners who prefer to believe the old story, and who will blame them?
The East Window. The memorial window was placed in the church in 1938 by parishioners and friends of the Rev. F. R. Wansburgh, Vicar of Shotwick from 1902 to 1936, and his wife. He is remembered as being a typical sporting parson who would ride into Chester wearing a tall silk hat and riding a big white mare. In the centre of the window is the figure of the Archangel Michael, patron saint of the church, and in the side-lights appear the old arms of Shotwick and those of the Abbey of St. Werburgh.
Why St. Michaels’? Knowing a little of Shotwick’s past history, it is not difficult to see why St. Michael was chosen as its patron saint. The dedication probably dates from the first church built on the site, as it was between the 10th and 12th Centuries that a group of dedications including St. Mary. St. Michael St. John, St. Andrew and the Holy Trinity were introduced under the influence of the Roman church. The cult of St. Michael spread rapidly in the Celtic world after the supposed apparition on Mont St. Michel in Normandy in 710. Many of the 600 and more churches dedicated to St. Michael are built on hill tops. In the Middle Ages it was believed that the saint flew down from heaven many times and alighted on high hills. As an Archangel and captain of a host of angels, he was invoked by defenders of cities and castles who often built small chapels dedicated to St. Michael high on their walls.
The brass chandelier-dates from the late 18th Century and is unusual in having only one tier. It is said to be unique in Cheshire.
The Memorials in the church are mostly to members of the Nevitt-Bennett Family, already mentioned in connection with Shotwick Hall. From the 1843 Tithe Map for the Township of Shotwick we find that apart from the rectory they were the owners of all the land in the township.
The Churchyard
In the South-West wall can be seen an iron ring, said to have come from the quay where it was used as a mooring ring.
The sun-dial bears the date 1767 and it was evidently a replacement for an earlier one, as the Churchwardens’ accounts mention payments for the dial post in 1720 which is also the date on the shaft, together with the initials J.D. and R.M., the Wardens at this time being John Davies and Richard Massey.
The American airman, Lieutenant S. Morange, whose grave is here was one of two killed in an aircraft mishap at Sealand in the First World War, the body of the other having been taken back to America. During the 1929 Scout Jamboree at Birkenhead, scouts from his home town, Bronxville, New York, placed 2 commemorative plaques at the Graveside. In 1957 these were respectively replaced and refurbished by American Servicemen stationed at Burtonwood.
Ministers and Incumbents of Shotwick
Chaplains of the Ford - as the Vicars of Shotwick used to be known
1333
Henry de Eccles
1449
Gilbert Hesketh
1540
Thomas Hande
1562
John Carter
1588
John Barker
1589
John Leach
1589
Robert Basford
1597
John Langdale
1607
Brian Deane
1608
Peter Barker
1610
William Norcotte
1618
Elmer Houghton
1622
— Huett
1624
Samuel Clarke
1629
Morgan Hopton
1630
Thomas Trafford
1634
— Norcotte
1639
Thomas Yates
1648
William Hewetson or Huitson
1661
— Jenkin
1662
James Wood or Woods
1669
Benjamin Harrison
1672
Francis
Wood,
Minister
Ralph Heath, Curate
1685
Joseph Kelsall
1691
Thomas Leftwich
1697
Robert Janny
1704
John Hodson

1706
Thomas Harvie
1709
Edward Forshall
1712
John Hiccock
1719
James Copland
1722
Thomas Aston
1739
Thomas Wrench
1750
John Shewell
1754
Jonathan Johnson
1760
Charles Francis
1763
Stephen Reay
1808
Mascie Domville Taylor
1812
Thomas Ward
1818
Peploe William Hamilton
1822
Richard Carter
1829
James Maingy
1831
James Cottingham
1890
The Hon. Charles Cross
1897
George Davis White
1902
Frederick Ray Wansburgh
1936
Joseph Williams
1944
Frank Henry Coveney
1945
Arthur James Humphreys
1962
Eric Arthur Wier
1964
David Lumgair
1967
John Richard Alford
1972
Gilbert Alan Robson
1975
Kenneth Michael Whittam
1990
Harold John Aldridge
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